

# By-Laws - St. Albert Pickleball Club

The name of the society shall be **St. Albert Pickleball Club**.

## Article 1 – Membership

1.1 Membership fees in the society shall be determined, from time to time, by the members at a General meeting.

1.2 Membership in the Society is open to any person residing in Alberta being interested in the game of pickleball and being of the full age of age 18 years upon completion of an application form and payment of the membership fee. Anyone younger than 18 may apply to the Board for membership and the membership may be permitted by the Board and fee or a portion may be waived.

1.3 Any member wishing to withdraw from membership may do so upon a notice in writing to the Board through its Secretary.

1.4 The membership year will commence on May 1st and continue for twelve months. The anniversary for membership year may be changed by a majority vote of members at a General meeting.

1.5 Annual membership fees are due at the beginning of the membership year. Any member in arrears for membership fees for any year shall be automatically suspended at the expiration of 60 days from the beginning of such year and shall be entitled to no membership privileges or powers in the Society until reinstated. In order to vote at a General or Special meeting, a member must have paid all applicable membership fees for the current year.

1.6 Any member who is deemed not to support the mission of the Society may have his membership revoked by majority vote of the Board of Directors.

1.7 No member of the Society shall be also a paid employee of the Society.

## Article 2 – Board of Directors

2.1 The Board of Directors of the society (hereinafter referred to as “the Board”) shall consist of the following Director positions:

- a. President
- b. Vice President
- c. Secretary
- d. Treasurer
- e. Up to three Directors appointed by the Board of Directors

2.2 The Board shall, subject to the bylaws or directions given it by majority vote at an Annual General Meeting properly called and constituted, have full control and management of the affairs of the society. Meetings of the Board shall be held as often as may be required, but at least once every three months and shall be called by the President.

2.3 The Board may from time to time form committees to look after specific areas of interest on behalf of the society. Committees will be comprised of members and are chaired by a Director.

2.4 A person elected or appointed a Director becomes a Director if they were present at the meeting when being elected or appointed, and did not refuse the appointment. They may also become a Director if they were not present at the meeting but consented in writing to act as a Director before the

election or appointment, or within ten days after the appointment or election, or if they acted as a director pursuant to the election or appointment.

2.5 Term of office for Directors is two years unless removed or by resignation or extended by re-election with the exception that in the initial year of the society, two Directors will be elected for a one year term of office. To promote an orderly transition, each year at least two Director positions will be open for election by a vote of members of the society at the Annual General meeting.

2.6 A Director will be considered to have resigned when the earliest of the following events occurs:

- a. Written resignation is received by the Secretary or the President.
- b. The Director ceases to be a member in good standing.
- c. The Director is absent without valid reason for three or more Board meetings.

Any vacancy on the Board shall be filled by appointment by the remaining Directors.

2.7 Any Director, upon a majority vote of all members in good standing, may be removed from office for any cause which the society may deem reasonable.

2.8 There will be no remuneration to Directors.

2.9 It shall be the duty of the President to:

- a. Chair all meetings of the society and the Board. In his/her absence, the Vice-President shall chair any such meetings.
- b. Be ex-officio a member of all Committees.
- c. Execute any contracts and other documents binding upon the society.

2.10 It shall be the duty of the Vice-President to:

- a. Preside at meetings of the society and the Board when the President is absent.
- b. Undertake actions for society reasonably required by the Board.

2.11 It shall be the duty of the Secretary to:

- a. Attend all meetings of the society and keep accurate minutes of the same.
- b. Have charge of all correspondence of the society and be under the direction of the President and the Board.
- c. File documents for the society whenever required.
- d. Keep a record of all members of the society and their addresses, send all notices of the various meetings as required, and collect and receive the annual membership fees levied by the society. Such monies shall be promptly turned over to the Treasurer for deposit.

2.12 It shall be the duty of the Treasurer to:

- a. Receive all monies paid to the society and shall be responsible for the deposit of same in any financial institution the Board may order.
- b. Properly account for the funds of the society keeping any such books and records as are required and directed.
- c. Present a full detailed account of receipts and disbursements to the Board whenever requested.
- d. Prepare with input from the Board, a yearly budget to be presented to the members at the Annual General meeting for their approval and/or amendment.
- e. Prepare for submission to members a statement duly audited as hereinafter set forth of the financial position of the society at the Annual General meeting and, a copy of same to the Secretary for the records of the society.

2.13 The books, accounts and records of the Secretary and Treasurer shall be audited at least once each year by a duly qualified accountant or by two members of the society elected for the purpose at the Annual General meeting of the society. The fiscal year of the society in each year shall be from May 1 to April 30.

2.14 The books and records of the society may be inspected by any member of the society at the Annual General meeting or at anytime upon giving reasonable notices and arranging a time satisfactory to the officer or officers having charge of same. Each member of the Board shall at all times have access to such books and records.

### **Article 3 – Meetings**

3.1 This Society shall hold an Annual General meeting on or before May 20th in each year of which written notice to the last known email or postal mail address of each member shall be sent at least 14 days prior to the date of the meeting. At this meeting there shall be elected members to vacant Director positions and Directors to fill the Board positions of President, Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer and Communications. The Directors so elected shall form the Board, and shall serve until their successors are elected and installed. Any vacancy occurring during the year shall be filled by a majority resolution of the Board. Any member in good standing shall be eligible to any office in the society.

3.2 General meetings may be called by the Secretary upon instruction by the President or Board. Notices to members of general meetings shall be in writing to the last known email or postal mail address of each member and shall be sent not less than 14 days before the date of the meeting.

3.3 A Special meeting shall be called by the President or Secretary upon receipt by him of a written request by six members in good standing, setting forth the reasons for calling such meeting. Such meeting to be held within two weeks of receiving the request. Notices to members of special meetings shall be in writing to the last known email or postal mail address sent not less than 8 days before the meeting or may also be by telephone not less than 4 days before the meeting.

3.4 Board meetings shall be called by the President or Vice President. Notices of Board meetings shall be by telephone or email, not less than 3 days before the Board meeting. Any member in good standing may attend a Board meeting.

3.5 Emergency Board meetings may be requested by 3 or more elected Board members, such meetings to be held not more than one week after such request.

3.6 The quorum for all General and Special meetings shall be the lesser of, 10 or 51% of total members in good standing, present in person at the start of the meeting.

3.7 The quorum for all Board meetings shall be not less than 3 Directors present in person at the start of the Board meeting.

3.8 Any member who has not withdrawn from membership nor has been suspended or removed from membership and who has paid all required membership fees applicable to the current year shall have the right to vote at any General or Special meeting of the society. Such votes must be made in person and not by proxy or otherwise

3.9 At any meeting of the society a resolution put to vote is decided by a majority either by show of hands or by ballot. The Chairman shall not have a vote unless there is a tie vote in which case the Chairman will cast the deciding vote. Notwithstanding, a special resolution brought forward under article 5 or 6 must be decided by a 75% majority of those members present at the General or Special meeting.

### **Article 4 – Borrowing Powers**

4.1 For the purpose of carrying out its objects, the Society may not borrow, raise, or secure the payment of money in any manner without the sanction of a Special Resolution, of the Society which is approved at a General or Special meeting of the society.

## **Article 5 – By-Laws**

5.1 The By-laws of the Society may be rescinded, altered or added to by a Special Resolution, any such changes will have no effect until approved and registered by the Registrar of Corporations of Alberta (Under the Societies Act).

5.2 In these By-laws, the singular shall include the plural and vice-versa; the masculine shall include the feminine and vice-versa.

## **Article 6 – Dissolution**

6.1 Upon the dissolution and windup of the affairs of the society, any remaining assets will be transferred to a non-profit organization.

Original Approval: October 3, 2014

Revision August 12, 2017

2.13: Changed fiscal year from “January 1 to December 31” to “May 1 to April 30”